Public Document Pack



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

EXTRAORDINARY MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 12TH MARCH 2025 AT 6.00 P.M.

PARKSIDE SUITE - PARKSIDE

MEMBERS:

Councillors S. Ammar (Chairman), B. Kumar (Vice-Chairman),

A. Bailes, R. Bailes, S. J. Baxter, J. Clarke, S. R. Colella,

A. M. Dale, J. Elledge, S. M. Evans, D. J. A. Forsythe,

E. M. S. Gray, C.A. Hotham, D. Hopkins, R. J. Hunter,

H. J. Jones, R. E. Lambert, M. Marshall, K.J. May,

P. M. McDonald, B. McEldowney, S. T. Nock, D. J. Nicholl,

S. R. Peters, J. Robinson, S. A. Robinson, H. D. N. Rone-

Clarke, J. D. Stanley, K. Taylor, S. A. Webb and

P. J. Whittaker

<u>AGENDA</u>

WELCOME

- 1. To receive apologies for absence
- 2. **Declarations of Interest**

To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm the nature of those interests.

- 3. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 19th February 2025 (Pages 5 30)
- 4. Local Government Re-organisation Interim Plan Proposals for Worcestershire Bromsgrove (Pages 31 58)

Council is asked to note that an addendum to this report will be issued as early as possible before the extraordinary Council meeting setting out the conclusions reached following the discussions taking place through the Worcestershire Leaders Board together with a further appendix (Appendix 5).

5. To consider any urgent business, details of which have been notified to the Head of Legal, Democratic and Procurement Services prior to the commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, considers to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until the next meeting

Sue Hanley Chief Executive

Parkside Market Street BROMSGROVE Worcestershire B61 8DA

4th March 2025

If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact Jess Bayley-Hill

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove, B61 8DA Tel: (01527) 64252 Ext: 3072

Email: jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveanderedditch.gov.uk

GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE <u>MEETINGS</u>

Please note that this is a public meeting and will be live streamed for general access via the Council's YouTube channel.

You are able to see and hear the livestream of the meeting from the Committee Pages of the website, alongside the agenda for the meeting.

<u>Link to the agenda papers and live stream link - Extraordinary Council</u> meeting, 12th March 2025

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers, please do not hesitate to contact the officer named above.

Notes:

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when Council might have to move into closed session to consider exempt or confidential information. For agenda items that are exempt, the public are excluded and for any such items the live stream will be suspended and that part of the meeting will not be recorded.



INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC

Access to Information

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain documents. Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act.

- You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before the date of the meeting.
- ➤ You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting.
- ➤ You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date of the meeting. These are listed at the end of each report.
- ➤ An electronic register stating the names and addresses and electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of all Committees etc. is available on our website.
- A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to items to be considered in public will be made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its Committees/Boards.
- You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers concerned, as detailed in the Council's Constitution, Scheme of Delegation.

You can access the following documents:

- Meeting Agendas
- Meeting Minutes
- ➤ The Council's Constitution

at www.bromsgrove.gov.uk

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

19TH FEBRUARY 2025, AT 6.00 P.M.

PRESENT: Councillors S. Ammar (Chairman), B. Kumar (Vice-Chairman),

A. Bailes, R. Bailes, S. J. Baxter, J. Clarke, S. R. Colella,

J. Elledge, S. M. Evans, D. J. A. Forsythe, E. M. S. Gray,

D. Hopkins, R. J. Hunter, H. J. Jones, M. Marshall, K.J. May,

P. M. McDonald, B. McEldowney, S. T. Nock, D. J. Nicholl, S. R. Peters, J. Robinson, S. A. Robinson, H. D. N. Rone-Clarke,

J. D. Stanley, K. Taylor, S. A. Webb and P. J. Whittaker

Observers: Mr J. Coleman

Officers: Mrs. S. Hanley, Mr P. Carpenter, Mr. G. Revans, Mrs. C. Felton, Ms. N Cummings and Mrs. J. Bayley-Hill

89\24 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors A. Dale, C. Hotham and R. Lambert.

(During consideration of this item, there was a brief adjournment from 18.06 – 18.11.)

90\24 **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

Members were reminded that all Councillors had been granted general dispensations by the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee earlier in the municipal year to take part in the debate and vote on the Council's budget and Council Tax.

There were no declarations of interest.

91\24 TO CONFIRM THE ACCURACY OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 22ND JANUARY 2025 (TO FOLLOW)

The minutes of the meeting of Council held on 22nd January 2025 were submitted.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of Council held on 22nd January 2025 be approved as a true and correct record.

92\24 TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRMAN AND/OR HEAD OF PAID SERVICE

The Chairman advised that the High Sheriff of Worcester, Mr Charles Moyle, was due to visit local charities in Bromsgrove with the Chairman. As part of this process, they would be visiting Catshill Foodbank, Age UK, Bosom Friends, the Harry Bennett Foundation and the Alvechurch Larder on Wednesday 26th February 2025. The High Sheriff was also due to make a second visit to the District on the 19th March 2025 in order to visit two charities in Wythall. Members were advised that they would be welcome to participate in these visits and were urged to notify the Chairman of the Council if they wished to take part.

The Head of Paid Service confirmed that she had no announcements to make on this occasion.

93\24 TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LEADER

The Leader confirmed that she had no announcements to make on this occasion.

94\24 <u>TO RECEIVE COMMENTS, QUESTIONS OR PETITIONS FROM</u> MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

The Chairman invited Mr J. Coleman to present the following comment, submitted in advance of the meeting, for Council's consideration:

Dear Ladies and gentlemen of the Council.

My name is Jonathan Coleman and as many of you will be aware, I am one of the team of volunteers at Revise BREP who have been attempting to hold WCC to account over the BREP project.

As of our last meeting I am happy to say the new leadership behind BREP has been more responsive and open to discussion and accordingly we have made some progress.

These include:

More frequent updates on what is going on with BREP.

Looking into artwork being produced to show how the areas will be restored.

Areas of concern or worry of residents looked into.

Guarantees that all trees removed and replaced will be replaced *in Bromsgrove along the A38*

Reducing the impact of the works as much as possible (such as getting numerous lane closures removed over the Christmas period.

Moving on from BREP however, it is time that we look and listen to the people of Bromsgrove who all know the only real solution to the transport issues in and around our town is a Western Bypass.

Worcestershire County Council has no money to perform a new study, but fortunately, Bromsgrove Council being fiscally responsible does have the reserves and the ability to commission a new study. And it needs to do so sooner rather than later.

Council 19th February 2025

The previous flawed study, as discovered when Bromsgrove Council commissioned a review, should have been re-done years ago. But instead has been used as a scapegoat to avoid investment in and around Bromsgrove in a way that would be meaningful. As an example, the A536 at Congleton is a project that shows how well planned infrastructure helps the area immensely. Resolving gridlocks and enabling traffic to flow freely through the area.

The current central government housing plans place potentially even larger demands on the Bromsgrove infrastructure, an infrastructure that is already bursting at the seams, no new supporting roads, and the existing plans designed to encourage more people through the town rather than around it.

Bromsgrove needs an infrastructure first plan. If developers want to build houses here, then we need the infrastructure to be developed first, not as an after thought or in many cases not at all. We need new roads to be built. We need new doctors. We need new schools. We need new dentists.

A simple survey of the residents of Bromsgrove will show the overwhelming majority agree. We set up a simple 4 question survey 2 weeks ago and have already had over 3000 replies.

As such, I hope that the council makes the right choice to support and order a study into a new Western Bypass Project so the proper investment our towns needs can be secured.

Thank you for your time."

On behalf of the Council, the Chairman thanked Mr Coleman for attending the meeting to deliver his comments.

95\24 **URGENT DECISIONS**

Council was advised that two urgent decisions had been taken since the previous meeting of Council. These urgent decisions had been taken in relation to the following subjects:

- The former Market Hall site
- The Promoting Independent Living (PIL) Service

The urgent decision forms had been provided for Members' information and were not subject to debate.

96\24 RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 12TH FEBRUARY 2025 (TO FOLLOW)

Council considered recommendations arising from the meeting of the Cabinet held on 12th February 2025.

Pay Policy Statement 2025/26

The Leader advised that the Localism Act 2011 required English and Welsh local authorities to produce an annual Pay Policy Statement. The Act required the statement to be approved by Full Council and to be adopted by 31st March each year for the subsequent financial year.

The purpose of the statement was to provide transparency with regard to the Council's approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying;

- the methods by which salaries of all employees were determined;
- the detail and level of remuneration of the most senior staff i.e. 'chief officers', as defined by the relevant legislation; and
- the Committee(s) responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in this statement were applied consistently throughout the Council and for recommending any amendments to the full Council.

The Council's pay and grading structure comprised grades 1 – 11. These were followed by grades for Managers, Assistant Director 1, Assistant Director 2, the Director of Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS), Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive and then Chief Executive; all of which arose following the introduction of shared services with Bromsgrove District Council.

Within each grade, there were a number of salary scale points. Up to and including grade 11 scale, at spinal column point 43, the Council used the nationally negotiated pay spine. Salary points above this were locally determined. All Council posts were allocated to a grade within this pay structure, based on the application of a Job Evaluation process. Posts at the level of Managers and above were evaluated by an external assessor using the Hay Job Evaluation scheme. In common with the majority of authorities, the Council was committed to the Local Government Employers' national pay bargaining framework in respect of the national pay spine and annual cost of living increases negotiated with the trade unions.

All other pay related allowances were the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated rates. Redditch Borough Council was managed by a senior management team who managed shared services across both Bromsgrove District and Redditch Borough Councils. All of the senior officer posts listed had been job evaluated on this basis, with the salary costs for these posts split equally between both Councils.

The policy also set out:

- The recruitment of Chief Officers
- Additions to the salaries of Chief Officers (Members were informed that there was no performance related pay)
- Termination payments
- Advertisement/publicity of posts

Council 19th February 2025

The Council's definition of lowest paid employees referred to persons employed under a contract of employment with the Council on full time (37 hours) equivalent salaries in accordance with the minimum spinal column point currently in use within the Council's grading structure. As at 1st April 2024, this was £23,656 per annum.

Following the presentation of the report, Members questioned whether the grades detailed in the report applied to permanent staff only or also to agency staff. In response, confirmation was provided that these costs applied to internal staff only.

The recommendation was proposed by Councillor K. May and seconded by Councillor S. Baxter.

RESOLVED that the Pay Policy Statement 2025/26 be approved.

Strategic Parking Review

The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration presented the Strategic Parking Review report for Members' consideration. Council was advised that prior to Cabinet, the report had been scrutinised in detail at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 11th February 2025. Based on points raised during the debate at the Board meeting, Cabinet had amended the recommendations detailed in the report and had added a fourth recommendation.

During the presentation of this report, the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration addressed a number of points that had been raised during the Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting:

- Concerns had been raised about the introduction of Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) systems in the Council's car parks. Members were advised that ANPR systems operated differently in Council run car parks compared to the private sector. In a Council car park with ANPR, customers could pay and leave at a later point.
- The intention was to allow for customers to pay on foot as they were leaving the car park. Legal advice was being sought to clarify that this arrangement would be possible.
- Members were assured that there was no intention to introduce cashless machines so customers would be able to continue to pay for parking using cash where they chose to do so.
- Council was advised that there was no intention to introduce out of hours charges for car parks in wards outside Bromsgrove town centre.
- The additional recommendation that had been proposed at the Cabinet meeting addressed issues raised about the need to take action in respect of on street parking out of hours and at weekends.

Council 19th February 2025

In concluding the presentation of the report, the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration thanked the Overview and Scrutiny Board for their input and highlighted that compromises had been made in order to address the Board's concerns.

Following the presentation of the report, Members questioned the number of additional Civil Enforcement Officers that could be employed based on the additional £70,000 funding that had been proposed. Council was informed that this budget would fund the employment of an additional two Civil Enforcement Officers.

Reference was also made to the potential for ward Councillors to help address parking issues in their communities and questions were raised about how best to achieve this. Clarification was provided that there would be a need to work in partnership with the Police, local schools and other interested stakeholders to address problems with parking. Members could help by highlighting specific issues in their wards with relevant lead officers.

The recommendations were proposed by Councillor S. Baxter and seconded by Councillor K. May.

RESOLVED that

- 1) The Director of Resources includes in the Medium-Term Financial Plan for 2025/26 a capital budget of £100k for ANPR systems to Recreation Road South, St Johns and Windsor Street car parks.
- 2) A revenue budget of £15k per annum be included in the Medium-Term Financial Plan from April 2026 for the maintenance contracts for the ANPR installations.
- 3) A revenue budget of £335,160 for Car Parking Enforcement be included in the Medium-Term Financial Plan from April 2025, which is to include an annual inflationary uplift, determined by the Consumer Price Index (CPI).
- 4) The Council allocate an additional £70,000 for additional Civil Enforcement Officers to enable increased enforcement during out of hours and weekends.

Medium Term Financial Plan 2025/26 to 2027/28 Tranche 2 (Following Consultation)

In opening this item, the Chairman advised that recommendations had been made on the subject of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2025/26 to 2027/28 Tranche 2 report at both the meeting of the Cabinet held on 12th February 2025 and the meeting of the Cabinet held on 19th February 2025. To ensure clarity in respect of decisions made on the budget at the meeting, Members were advised that the Chairman intended to consider both sets of recommendations together at this stage in the meeting.

Council 19th February 2025

The Chairman further advised that no alternative budgets had been submitted for consideration at the meeting and therefore the subject of alternative budgets would not be debated when considering the MTFP.

The Cabinet Member for Finance subsequently presented the MTFP 2025/26 to 2027/28 and in doing so highlighted that the Council had presented budget reports in two Tranches, in a similar manner to 2024/25. The initial Tranche was published in December 2024 and Members approved initial pressures and increases at Council in January 2025. This second Tranche incorporated the final Local Government Settlement figures.

Members were asked to note that:

- The Council only received the Final Local Government Settlement on the evening of 3rd February 2025.
- National Insurance contributions were part of that settlement and the Council, like many authorities, was short of funding, in this case in the region of £200,000 a year.
- Not all grant allocations were known by the date of the meeting.

A certain set of assumptions, and pressures and some savings were agreed in the Tranche 1 budget. This included departmental changes, due to contract pressures and demographics. These departmental changes resulted in an overall £1.387 million revenue pressure in the 2025/26 financial year and then £938,000 by 2027/28. At Tranche 1, there was a £1 million deficit to be closed which increased to an ongoing £1.5 million problem in 2027/28. £1 million of this amount from 2026/27 onwards was linked to the impact of the changes to Waste Regulations.

The Provisional Local Government Settlement was made on the 18th December 2024. In that settlement, the Council's core spending power was unchanged at £13.42 million. However, this zero per cent increase in spending power masked a significant change in funding, with Councils expected to have a 2.99 per cent increase in Council Tax to achieve a break even position, with "Other Grants" reducing by a corresponding amount. The Council, like many other authorities, had already assumed they would be maximising Council Tax increases in their existing plans and this settlement had no inflation built in. The £200,000 shortfall in National Insurance contributions exacerbated this situation.

The Government had allocated specific targeted grant funding for a number of initiatives. This funding was for a single year, as Local Government Funding was due to change significantly in the 2026/27 settlement, which would be for three years. However, the impacts on the Council for this targeted funding were:

- Bromsgrove had not received any additional grant funding.
- Council Tax in Tranche 2 would be increased from 1.99 to 2.99 per cent.

Council 19th February 2025

- £233 million additional Homelessness Prevention Grant had been allocated to local government, of which Bromsgrove had received £349,000, which was £88,000 more than previously anticipated.
- Nationally, £1.1 billion new funding had been introduced through implementation of the Extended Producer Responsibility scheme for recycling. Bromsgrove had received £1.004 million, which was included in the Tranche 2 budget proposals.
- Business Rates support to the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors was expected to be neutral and Government funded through a Section 31 Grant.
- UK Shared Prosperity Funding (UKSPF) had been extended for 2025-26 at a reduced level of £900 million nationally. Bromsgrove had received £918,000 of this funding, divided between Revenue funding of £748,000 and Capital funding of £170,000.

Significant grant levels for Bromsgrove District Council included:

- Housing Benefit Administration Subsidy £146,878
- Discretionary Housing Payments £62,332
- Discretionary Housing Payments Administration £11,114
- New Burdens Funding (Universal Credit) £2,770
- Revenue Support Grant £118,000
- New Homes Bonus £24,000
- Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Grant £36,000
- Funding Floor (formally Funding Guarantee) £1,111,000
- Section 31 Grant Funding for Business Rates Subsidy (RHL) would be based on the NNRA1 forms
- National Insurance Contribution The Final Local Government Settlement on the 3rd February 2025 allocated a sum of £0.1 million. This was circa £200,000 less than the Council's requirements and this difference was reflected as an additional pressure
- Housing Benefit Subsidy £11,192,229 (Members were asked to note that this was the 2024/25 level, as the 2025/26 level was not known by the date of the meeting)
- Disabled Facilities Grant £1,285,847 (up from £1,130,316), which would be added to the Capital Programme
- Capital Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) allocation for Food Waste Bins/Vehicles £902,511, which would also be added to the Capital Programme.

The Council had assessed a number of other options to move to what was believed to be a sustainable position over the three-year planning period. This process had resulted in the following changes since Tranche 1:

 Council Tax – The Government expected, as part of the Local Government Settlement, that all Councils would increase Council Tax levels by the maximum 2.99 per cent possible. The Council

assumed a 1.99 per cent increase in Tranche 1 and so this increased that level by £96,000 to come in line with Government expectations.

- Actuarial Changes from 2026. Following a conversation with the new Actuary and the Worcestershire Treasurers at the end of November 2024, expectations were now that in the 2026 Triennial Revaluation there would be minimal increases. This saved £150,000.
- ERP Funding Allocations the Council had received £1.004 million in ERP Funding. This would be allocated over the three-year funding period with £250,000 allocated for specific marketing projects to move the initiative forward across all sectors.
- 2024/25 Salary Adjustment Following allocation of actual salary increases for 2024/25 as part of the December payroll, this saving could be realised.
- Capitalisation of Salaries The Council should be allocating staff costs to capital projects. The authority had not done this in the past. By the date of the meeting, an assumption of a 5 per cent recharge had been made. This needed to be sustainable over time.
- One Off Funding from the Finance Reserve. There were finance specific items in the departmental pressures that were one off in nature. These could be funded from the earmarked Finance Reserve.
- Departmental Efficiencies to balance the overall budget, there was the requirement for departmental efficiencies to be made.
- Savings on the VM Ware Contract it was expected in Tranche 1 that this contract would have a 10-fold increase as a result of a change of supplier, but in December the Council was able to limit the increase to a far smaller level.

The following additional costs were also highlighted:

- Replacement Bins Bromsgrove District Council was the only authority in England with the diamond bin. This was limiting the options in the purchasing of the replacement refuse fleet.
- Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS) Uplift for Inflation These were the agreed increases approved at the WRS Board in November 2024.
- Local Government Settlement Costs These costs now reflected the changes to funding in the 2025/26 Local Government Financial Settlement. The most significant was the £352,000 reduction in Government grants.
- The Sunrise Project The project focussed on supporting the most vulnerable and complex customers often known to organisations for repeat and reactive demands and identified as having a high level of contact with multiple partner agencies. The expenditure was designed to improve the financial sustainability and health and

Council 19th February 2025

wellbeing of residents, and in particular those more vulnerable residents. The project was tenure blind and included the provision of access to courses to improve employment opportunities and quality of life.

- The Final Local Government Settlement on the 3rd February 2025 allocated the Council £0.1 million for the National Insurance changes. This was £200,000 less than the Council's requirements and this difference was shown as a pressure.
- Following input from the Overview and Scrutiny Board at a meeting held on the 11th February 2025, Cabinet agreed to an £85,000 additional pressure in parking services.

The effects of these changes overall were a net £252,000 deficit in 2025/26, increasing to £1.115 million in 2026/27, before reducing to £484,000 in 2027/28. This was an overall call on general fund reserves of £1.851 million and £600,000 of this was required for National Insurance contributions.

Fees and charges had been considered and agreed at Tranche 1 of the budget process. However, this had not included commercial charges for the authority's commercial Environmental Services customers. These had therefore been provided for consideration at Tranche 2 of the process. In addition, updated WRS charges had been included in the Tranche 2 report, which proposed changes to those fees in line with increases in the service across the County.

By the date of the Council meeting, the authority had closed accounts up to the 2022/23 financial year and had received "Disclaimer Opinions" for those three years. Because those years were now closed, there was certainty over the Earmarked Reserve balances which at the 31st March 2028 were due to be valued at £12.526 million. The 2025/26 Earmarked Reserves level of £9.484 million assumed that all ward budgets would be spent over the three year "pilot period" and that pressures would be funded from specific reserves.

The Capital Programme for the Council had been provided for the period up to 2029/30. A number of amendments had been made since Tranche 1. This included:

- The items carried forward from 2023/24 to 2024/25 had been fully reviewed and updated as part of the Closure of Accounts 2023/24 process.
- The requirement of a firewall for Parkside at £9,750 had been integrated into the programme.
- The requirement for an additional £25,000 a year for laptops for new starters had also been integrated into the programme.
- The Market Hall redevelopment had been reprofiled and overall showed a £1.4 million deficit, which was being funded by the Council.

Council 19th February 2025

- The requirement to replace the wheely bin fleet had been added at a cost of £2.2 million.
- Updated funding for 2025/26 had been added for both UKSPF and Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Budgets.
- Government funding for the new Food Waste Service (Vehicles and Containers) had been added at £902,000. This was still over £500,000 short of the authority's overall requirement.
- The updated play audit implementation profile from the December 2024 report had been added. No change was required for the revenue funding assumptions.
- Inclusion of the capitalisation of salaries.
- As per the discussions at recent meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Cabinet concerning the Strategic Parking Review, £100,000 had been allocated for the implementation of ANPR systems to Recreation Road South, St Johns and Windsor Street Car Parks.

The Treasury Management Strategy, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and Asset Investment Strategy set out how the Council would invest and borrow funds and to whom. These strategies had been reviewed by the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee and had been included in the report for Members' consideration.

The impending Devolution of powers in Local Government and the setting up of Unitary Councils in existing two-tier areas before the close of this Parliament had been highlighted as a significant risk in the report. In light of this, the Council was reviewing schemes that could be delivered and completed within the following three years to ensure that a legacy of a sustainable, attractive Bromsgrove was transferred on vesting day with infrastructure and amenities reflecting stakeholder requirements to make a difference to the residents of Bromsgrove. As part of this initiative, it was expected that General Fund Reserves would fall no lower than £5 million, which was two times the Government recommended level. Initiatives under review for prioritisation, inclusion and approval following updated business cases were:

- Full funding of the 10-year play strategy agreed by Council in 2024 (only five years of funding had been previously included in the Capital Programme) including non-Council assets set out in that report.
- Bromsgrove Town Centre public realm continuation of improvements on the high street, Church Street, Mill Lane and Worcester Road. This included resurfacing, street furniture and lighting upgrades, and possible acquisitions to deliver further regeneration. These works were valued at costing approximately £2 million.
- Rubery a high street design feasibility study to create a central plaza/meeting space and to reconfigure the parking. These works had an estimated cost of £120,000.

Council 19th February 2025

- Work in other centres, although this would need to link with Parish Councils and un-Parished areas which also had responsibilities.
- Full programmes of litter bin replacement.
- Investment to upgrade the authority's parks facilities.
- Investment in a new depot to reflect differing needs for services and vehicles in the future.

In terms of risks, Members were asked to note that the budget was being set in a time of extreme uncertainty. The causes of this uncertainty included:

- Changes to the Government and this being the first year of a new administration.
- The 2025/26 Local Government Financial Settlement was only for one year and had resulted overall in a £352,000 reduction in central grants.
- There would be a new financial settlement formula in 2026/27, which would be for three years, but the make-up of this settlement formula would only start to be consulted on in the spring of 2025.
- The Government had also announced significant reorganisation of the Local Government Sector within Worcestershire, which on the date of the meeting had a two-tier authority structure but would be moving to a Unitary Authority setup by the end of the Parliament. On the date of the Council meeting, the future format of Unitary Councils in Worcestershire remained unclear, as were the rules in relation to use of reserves and balances in the intermediate period and the obvious impact on the Council's staff, Members and present stakeholders.
- The status of Councils with "Disclaimer Opinions" on their accounts remained uncertain. Members were informed that it was understood that there would be over 500 of these opinions that had been issued across English Councils.
- The ongoing issue of funding, with the care element of Local Government taking more of the "overall" resource pot on a yearly basis leaving less for other services provided by local government to the public.
- Access to existing former Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership (GBSLEP) funds from Birmingham City Council during 2025/26.

Risk Reports had been regularly presented to the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee. These reports had highlighted the following specific risks linked to finance:

- Resolution of the approved budget position.
- Financial process rectification (in relation to the 2020/21 Accounts and subsequent years not being approved, which was close to some sort of resolution with the "Disclaimer Opinions").
- Decisions made to address financial pressures and implementing new projects that were not informed by robust data and evidence.

Adequate workforce planning.

In addition, in this time of uncertainty, the Council would also need to embed a new Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Resources, both of whom had been appointed in January 2025 and would commence employment with Bromsgrove and Redditch Councils after serving their respective notice periods.

There were also the core risks of implementation of any Council financial plan in that:

- Any savings proposal must pass the Section 151 Officer's tests for robustness and delivery. If items were not deliverable or amounts not obtainable, they could not be included.
- Implementation of savings to time and budget there must be full implementation processes documented to ensure implementation within timescales.
- Non delivery was a high risk. Savings were tracked and reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee to ensure implementation happened based on the plans and the assumptions would become part of the Council's core processes.
- Loss of key personnel would be critical, especially given the impending Local Government Reorganisation and mitigation plans would need to be drawn up which in themselves would require resources to administer and deliver.
- Changes of corporate direction and priorities, given the upcoming changes in the sector.

For Tranche 2, the opinion of the Section 151 Officer was that the risks contained in the 2025/26 budget estimates had been minimised as far as was possible. In the previous two years, the Council had moved to the delivery of sustainable budgets. However, these had been impacted by three years of staff pay awards far in excess of those ever previously seen in Local Government. This, given the fact that staffing costs were approaching 50% of overall costs, had had a significant impact on Council budgets over this period leading to in year overspend positions and had required subsequent mitigation in the following years' budgets.

Although inflation was reducing in the UK, given wider economic events and governmental changes in other countries, it was not clear if inflation in particular would move back to being consistently within the Government's 2 per cent target. This impacted both Council costs as well as the costs of other services used by customers.

Employee budgets were almost 50 per cent of the Council's costs. Over the previous 18 months, there had been a significant move to fill establishment positions. However, the Council was still running at levels of vacancy of around 100 against an overall joint establishment of 850 and using considerable agency resources to ensure services were maintained. This resulted in additional short-term costs and the

Council 19th February 2025

Workforce Strategy, implemented in 2023, was starting to mitigate this. This was demonstrated in the Council's staff turnover figure being 50 per cent of the national average at just over 7 per cent. However, this remained the most significant financial risk to the Council.

The next most significant financial risk was the fact that the Council had not been able to present its 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23 Accounts for audit, and the possible inaccuracy of opening balances used in budgetary data. These three years had now been completed under the new "backstop" regulations, but because of the national audit issues, the Council had received "Disclaimer Opinions" for all three years. This was not unusual and there were circa 500 of these opinions that had been issued for English Councils, however, the implications of this for Councils and the wider sector remained unclear. What the closure process had highlighted, now it had been completed for these years, was that the Council was in a stronger position in terms of reserves than was previously anticipated. The 2023/24 Accounts had also now been completed and presented for audit within the new "Backstop" requirements. The revenue budget and capital programme had been formulated having regard to several factors including:

- Funding available.
- Inflation.
- Risks and uncertainties.
- Priorities.
- Service pressures.
- Commercial opportunities.
- Operating in a post Covid-19 environment.

The MTFP highlighted that the current financial position had moved, following the Local Government Settlement, to a position of requiring £1.851 million (up from £0.996 million due to the National Insurance decision) of funding from General Fund Reserves over the three-year period. This was a departure from the previous two years where the Council had tried to move to a more ongoing sustainable position. The reason for this movement in the short term was that

- In year three, 2027/28, the ongoing deficit to close going forward would be £484,000, half of which were National Insurance costs.
- That the Local Government Financial Settlement methodology would significantly change in 2026/27, and it would not be sensible to make savings where those services might need to be reinstated.
- That the general fund would still be at a strong level, at £12.526 million after allowing for this support which was well above 25 per cent of gross turnover.

The Council had reviewed the authority's position in line with the CIPFA Resilience Index. The data for the resilience index was obtained from the Revenue Expenditure and Financing England Outturn Report 2023-24 ('RO Forms') and reflected figures submitted by Local Authorities to

Council 19th February 2025

the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), published on 12th December 2024. The Council, in comparison to its nearest neighbours and levels of risk:

- Had lower risks in terms of levels of reserves, interest payable, levels of debt, and growth being above the baseline.
- Had a slightly higher than average fees and charges to services expenditure ratio.

This reflected the fact that the Council had no long-term debts and reasonable levels of General Fund and Earmarked Reserves. With fees and charges, these were the only real avenue to revenue increases given the limits on Council Tax rises.

In line with Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, the report of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) set out the robustness of estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of the Council's reserves. The Chief Financial Officer's opinion was that the estimates were robust.

Relevant budget holders were responsible for individual budgets and their preparation. All estimates were then scrutinised by Financial Services staff and the Corporate Leadership Team prior to submission to Members. The two tranche 2025/26 budget process had ensured that all budget assumptions had been reviewed and reconsidered by Officers, and then Members, through the Finance and Budget Scrutiny Working Group, Cabinet and Council.

The budget had a £1.526 million call on General Fund Reserves over the three-year period but by year three did start to move to a more sustainable position. More work would need to be done to incorporate changes to ensure financial sustainability was embedded across the organisation, especially with the change coming forward for Local Government in terms of funding and structure.

In terms of the adequacy of reserves, Budget and MTFP proposals forecast the level of General Fund balances at £12.526 million as at 31st March 2028, which was over five times the recommended 5 per cent of net level. The present positive MTFP position, took into account the updated position in terms of accounts being closed to the 2023/24 financial year. However, the "Disclaimer Opinions" still highlighted the potential of possible issues with opening balances. It was therefore prudent for the Council to build reserves, as they were the Council's single source of funding for business change initiatives.

Further work would be undertaken to ensure that expenditure levels were sustainable and matched by income over the medium to long term. Plans were therefore in place to continue to review budgets and identify and accelerate further savings opportunities.

Council 19th February 2025

The Cabinet Member for Finance concluded his presentation by reading out and proposing the recommendations on the MTFP arising from the meetings of the Cabinet held on 12th February and 19th February 2025.

Once the report had been presented, the following points were discussed by Members:

- The importance of setting aside funding to support legacy projects that would have a beneficial impact in Bromsgrove District long after the authority ceased to exist.
- The extent to which there might be risks to legacy funding of projects, such as the work associated with the Play Audit, if those works were to partly take place once a unitary authority had been established.
- The potential for sports clubs and Parish Councils to receive some of the legacy funding.
- The decision by Cabinet to withdraw from providing additional funding to the Poverty Truth Commission, following scrutiny at meetings of the Finance and Budget Working Group and Overview and Scrutiny Board. Due to concerns about the extent to which this project would have secured value for money, Members welcomed this decision.
- The hard work of Members of the Audit, Standards and Governance Committee in reviewing the Council's financial risks over time and in considering the accounts that had been submitted.
- The hard work of the Financial Services team in preparing both four sets of accounts in tight timescales as well as in the preparation of the MTFP. Members thanked Officers for their hard work.
- The targeted funding that had been proposed for initiatives in wards located outside Bromsgrove town centre. Members welcomed this funding.
- The fact that no alternative budgets had been submitted on this occasion for debate at the Council.
- The extent to which some of the Council's funds from the former GBSLEP could be used on legacy projects. Members were reminded that GBSLEP funding had to be spent on regeneration projects and would be subject to the submission of robust business cases.
- The need for all proposed legacy projects to be assessed in accordance with a robust set of criteria.
- The uncertainty, in terms of local government funding, in the medium and long-term, and the need for Council representatives to participate in Government consultation processes concerning future funding models.
- The decision not to propose any cuts to services at this stage, given the significant levels of forthcoming changes to local government.

- The different financial challenges that were experienced by District and County Councils. Members noted that a significant pressure for County and Unitary Councils arose from the costs associated with social care.
- The potential opportunities arising from Local Government Devolution.
- The speed with which Local Government Devolution was likely to occur in Worcestershire, given that the area had not been included in the Government's first tranche of reorganisation.
- The need for transparency in setting the Council's budget and planning for the future.
- Work that Officers had recently been asked to undertake to review play areas that were not managed by the Council.
- The opportunities that Members had had to feed into the budget setting process at meetings of the Finance and Budget Working Group, Overview and Scrutiny Board and Cabinet.

The recommendations were proposed by Councillor S. Colella and seconded by Councillor K. May.

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, the decision in respect of this matter was taken by holding a formal recorded vote and the results were as follows:

Members Voting FOR the Medium Term Financial Plan 2025/26 to 2027/28:

Councillors A. Bailes, R. Bailes, S. Baxter, S. Colella, J. Elledge, D. Forsythe, E. Gray, D. Hopkins, H. Jones, B. Kumar, M. Marshall, K. May, P. McDonald, B. McEldowney, S. Nock, S. Peters, H. Rone-Clarke, J. Stanley, K. Taylor, S. Webb and P. Whittaker (21).

Members Voting AGAINST the Medium Term Financial Plan 2025/26 to 2027/28:

No Councillors (0).

Members voting to ABSTAIN on the Medium Term Financial Plan 2025/26 to 2027/28:

Councillors S. Ammar, J. Clarke, S. Evans, R. Hunter, D. Nicholl, J. Robinson and S. Robinson (7).

Therefore, on being put to the vote, the recommendations were <u>carried</u>.

RESOLVED that

- 1) The Tranche 2 growth proposals be approved.
- 2) The additional funding to the Council, as per the final Local Government Settlement, including the estimated levels for 2026/7 and 2027/8, be approved.
- 3) The Tranche 2 savings proposals, including an increase of Council Tax of 2.99 per cent, be approved.
- 4) the Commercial and Worcestershire Regulatory Services fee increases for 2025/26 be approved.
- 5) The updated five-year Capital Programme 2025/6 to 2029/30 along with its ongoing revenue costs be approved.
- 6) The levels of Earmarked Reserve being carried forward into future years and the setting up of the Property and ERP Reserves be approved.
- 7) The level of General Fund balances following additions from the 2025/6 MTFP be approved.
- 8) Members take account of any feedback from the Tranche 2 consultation process undertaken.
- 9) The updated MTFP following discussions at Overview and Scrutiny Board on 11th February and amendments agreed at Cabinet on 12th February, as detailed in the Cabinet minute 69/24, be approved.
- 10) Subject to incorporating the changes detailed in recommendation 9 above, the MTFP Recommendations made in the report to Cabinet on 12th February be approved.
- 11) The funding of £40,000 from Reserves allocated to the Poverty Truth Commission project be removed from the Medium-Term Financial Plan.

(At the end of the debate in respect of this item, there was a brief adjournment from 19.42 to 19.54.)

97\24 <u>RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 19TH</u> FEBRUARY 2025 (TO FOLLOW)

The Chairman advised that a meeting of the Cabinet had taken place earlier that day at which recommendations had been agreed for the consideration of Council. Whilst there had not been sufficient time to prepare the minutes of that meeting in time for Council, recommendations had been tabled for Members' consideration.

Local Development Scheme

The Cabinet Member for Planning, Licensing and Regulatory Services opened the item by thanking Mr J. Coleman for the comments that he had submitted earlier in the evening to the Council. It was highlighted that the Council would be undertaking consultation in respect of the content of the Local Plan and the Cabinet Member for Planning, Licensing and Regulatory Services urged residents to take part in this process.

The Local Development Scheme provided a basic timetable for the Local Plan process at the Council. The report had been reviewed at meetings

Council 19th February 2025

of both the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Strategic Planning Steering Group (SPSG). In both cases, Members had been advised that the Council had limited choice in terms of the timetable. However, Councils needed to set their own timetables as otherwise, under the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), there was a risk of central Government intervention.

Further work would continue moving forward in respect of preparation of the Local Plan. Members would have an opportunity to contribute to this work by attending meetings of the SPSG and all Councillors were urged to participate in this process.

During consideration of this item, the Cabinet Member for Planning, Licensing and Regulatory Services highlighted that the Cabinet had amended the second recommendation in the report to request a delegation to the Assistant Director of Planning and Leisure Services to be used following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Licensing and Regulatory Services, rather than to grant a delegation directly to the Cabinet Member. This amendment had been required, in line with constitutional requirements at the authority, because Cabinet Members did not have individual decision-making powers.

The recommendations were proposed by Councillor K. Taylor and seconded by Councillor K. May.

RESOLVED that

- Bromsgrove District Council Local Development Scheme 2025 be approved as the Council's programme for plan-making, effective as of 19th February 2025; and
- 2) Delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director for Planning and Leisure Services, following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Licensing and Worcestershire Regulatory Services, to approve updates to the Local Development Scheme as required.

Council Tax Resolutions 2025/26

The Cabinet Member for Finance presented the Council Tax Resolutions 2025/26 for Council's consideration.

Members were informed that the Council Tax Resolutions ensured that the Residents of Bromsgrove were charged the correct Council Tax. That Council Tax included elements for a number of partner organisations including:

- Worcestershire County Council
- Bromsgrove District Council
- The Police and Crime Commissioner for West Mercia
- The Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Service

The 19 Parish Councils in the District

The report detailed how much each precepting authority was charging across the full range of property bands, A to H. Overall, the average band D charge had increased in the following ways:

- For the County Council, an increase of 4.99 per cent to £1,615.71
- For the District Council an increase of 2.99 per cent to £257.48
- For the Police and Crime Commissioner an increase of 5.05 per cent to £291.50
- For the Fire and Rescue Authority an increase of 5.14 per cent to £102.22

The Council was due to collect £88.3 million of Council Tax income in 2025/26 on behalf of all these precepting organisations. The funds would be distributed to recipient organisations.

The recommendations were proposed by Councillor S. Colella and seconded by Councillor K. May.

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, the decision on the Council Tax Resolutions was taken by a formal recorded vote process.

Members voting FOR the Council Tax Resolutions 2025/26

Councillors S. Ammar, A. Bailes, R. Bailes, S. Baxter, J. Clarke, S. Colella, J. Elledge, S. Evans, D. Forsythe, E. Gray, D. Hopkins, R. Hunter, H. Jones, B. Kumar, M. Marshall, K. May, P. McDonald, B. McEldowney, D. Nicholl, S. Nock, S. Peters, J. Robinson, S. Robinson, H. Rone-Clarke, J. Stanley, K. Taylor, S. Webb and P. Whittaker (28).

Members voting AGAINST the Council Tax Resolutions 2025/26

No Councillors (0).

Members voting to ABSTAIN on the Council Tax resolutions 2025/26

No councillors (0).

Therefore, on being put to the vote, the recommendations were carried.

RESOLVED

- 1) The calculation for the Council Tax requirement for the Council's own purposes for 2025/26 (excluding parish precepts) as £9,876,907.05.
- 2) That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2025/26 in accordance with sections 31 to 36 of the Act:

Council 19th February 2025

- a) £48,010,187.83 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in section 31A(2) of the Act (taking into account all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils) (i.e., gross expenditure).
- b) £36,759,479.34 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in section 31A(3) of the Act. (i,e gross income).
- c) £11,250,708.49 being the amount by which the aggregate of 1.2.2(a) above exceeds the aggregate of 1.2.2(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 31A(4) of the Act, as its Council Tax requirement for the year. (Item R in the formula in section 31B of the Act).
- d) £293.29 being the amount at 1.2.2(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (1.1(a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 31B of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including parish precepts).
- e) £1,373,801.44 being the aggregate amount of all special items (parish precepts) referred to in section 34(1) of the Act (as per the attached schedule 3)
- f) £257.48 being the amount at 1.2.2(d) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 1.2.2(e) above by Item T (1.1 (a) above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no parish precept relates.
- g) The amounts shown in column 4 of schedule 1. These are the basic amount of Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of the Council's area shown in column 1 of the schedule respectively to which special items relate, calculated by the Council in accordance with section 34(3) of the Act. (District and parish combined at band D).
- h) The amounts shown in columns 7 to 14 of schedule 1 being the amount given by multiplying the amount at 1.2.2(g) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number of dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by the council, in accordance with section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.
- 3) That it is to be noted that for the year 2025/26, Worcestershire County Council, Police and Crime Commissioner for West Mercia, and Hereford and Worcester Fire Authority have issued precepts to the Council in accordance with section 40 of the Act for each category of dwelling in the Council's area as indicated below:

	Valuation Bands							
	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
	£	£	£	£	£	£	£	£
Worcestershire	1,077.14	1,256.66	1,436.19	1,615.71	1,974.76	2,333.80	2,692.85	3,231.42
County Council						-		
Police and Crime	194.33	226.72	259.11	291.50	356.28	421.06	485.83	583.00
Commissioner for								
West Mercia								
Hereford and	68.15	79.50	90.86	102.22	124.94	147.65	170.37	204.44
Worcester Fire								
Authority								

- 4) That having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 1.2.2(h) and 1.2.3 above, that Bromsgrove District Council in accordance with sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 hereby sets the amounts shown in schedule 2 as the amounts of Council Tax for 2025/26 for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings.
- 5) The Director of Resources be authorised to make payments under section 90(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 from the collection fund by ten equal instalments between April 2025 to March 2026 as detailed below

	Precept (£)	Surplus/Deficit on Collection Fund (£)	Total to Pay (£)
Worcestershire County Council	61,978,747.00	417,276.00	62,395,750.00
Police and Crime Commissioner for West Mercia	11,181,910.85	75,243.70	11,257,154.55
Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue Authority	3,921,149.04	26,361.05	3,947,510.09

- The Director of Resources is authorised to make transfers under section 97 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 from the collection fund to the general fund the sum of £11,250,708.49 being the Council's own demand on the collection fund (£9,876,907.05) and parish precepts (£1,373,801.44) and the distribution of the surplus/deficit on the collection fund (£76,521.40).
- 7) That the Director of Resources is authorised to make payments from the general fund to parish councils the sums listed on Schedule 3 by two equal instalments on 1st April 2025 and 1st October 2025 in respect of the precept levied on the Council.
- 8) That the above resolutions to be signed by the Chief Executive for use in legal proceedings in the Magistrates' Court for the recovery of unpaid Council Taxes.
- 9) Notices of the making of the said Council Taxes signed by the Chief Executive are given by advertisement in the local press under section 38(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

98\24 TO NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD ON 12TH FEBRUARY 2025 (TO FOLLOW)

The minutes from the Cabinet meeting held on 12th February 2025 were noted without comment.

99\24 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

the Chairman advised that there had been five Questions on Notice submitted for consideration at this meeting.

Question submitted by Councillor J. Elledge:

"Can we please get a list of all bus shelters in the district along with -

A/ who owns them

B/ which team maintains each one

C/ the current state of repair of each one and example of what each repair status means

D/ the planned maintenance schedule for them?"

The Leader provided responses to each part of the question in turn.

In respect of part (a) Members were advised that a list of all Council owned bus shelters had already been circulated. Currently there was no list available of bus shelters under the responsibility of third parties. In terms of part (b), the Council's Minor Works Team maintained Council owned bus shelters. In respect of parts (c) and (d), Council was informed that bus shelters were inspected every two years to identify any issues which were then prioritised to be addressed. The last inspection was in 2023 and they were due to be inspected again in 2025. The Council was also looking at utilising software within Environmental Services that would allow the authority to track the condition of bus shelters electronically.

Councillor Elledge subsequently asked a supplementary question which sought clarification as to whether bus shelters that were not owned by the Council were instead owned by Parish Councils.

The Leader responded by explaining that there was a mixture of arrangements in place. Bus shelters were owned and maintained by Bromsgrove District Council, Worcestershire County Council, Parish Councils and some Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) organisations.

Question Submitted by Councillor J. Clarke

"I regularly receive comments asking what the Council is doing to reverse the decline of our High street. So, I went on a short walk through the town centre. This revealed 20 businesses are boarded up and with

Council 19th February 2025

forthcoming closures, including the Halifax and Lloyds, this will soon rise to 23.

Has this Council explored using the High Street Rental Auctions powers launched in December as a way of tackling this problem?"

The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration responded by explaining that the Council was in the process of reviewing the High Street Rental Auctions (HSRA) powers alongside the recent Town Centre Healthcheck to explore potential properties that would be suitable for the powers. The authority had the power to hold rental auctions to let qualifying high-street premises that had been unoccupied for the whole of the preceding year, or for at least 366 days in the preceding two years. Should there be qualifying premises, the success of the initiative required willing potential tenants to bid on the vacant properties.

Councillor Clarke subsequently asked a supplementary question which made reference to the availability of funding to support the HSRA process and he questioned whether the Council would be submitting a bid for this funding.

The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration explained that this was in the process of being investigated further.

Question Submitted by Councillor S. Robinson

"With Worcestershire County Council encouraging residents to cut back hedges in February, do you not agree it is time for residents in the district to have the opportunity to have their brown bins collected from the start of February?"

The Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Community Safety responded by commenting that the Council's current service operated for nine months of the year from the last week in February until the end of November (40 weeks) to reflect the main growing season when residents were maintaining their gardens and producing the majority of their garden waste. The Council had extended the garden waste service through the winter on a number of occasions previously to support residents with their winter maintenance, most recently during the Covid Pandemic in 2020/21, but saw very low take up by residents both in terms of number of households placing their bins out for collection, and the volume of material inside them. When considered against the cost of operating these vehicles on a weekly basis, and the environmental impact of providing the service, the volume of material collected did not offset the carbon footprint of operating the service in this period. Therefore, in the Council's current service model, this had not been proposed as a permanent alteration; and the same concerns would apply to the smaller extension suggested.

Council 19th February 2025

Given the scale of changes in the process of being implemented around how waste was managed nationally and the additional burdens this was placing on the Council, officers had been tasked with reviewing the future arrangements for these services. As part of that the garden waste service would also be reviewed to determine whether there was a way to further extend the service for residents whilst balancing the financial and environmental costs.

In the interim though, residents were still able to dispose of their garden waste at the County Council's Household Recycling sites free of charge throughout the year. When the service recommenced at the end of February, the grass had typically not yet started to grow sufficiently for cuttings to impact on residents' capacity, so any hedge cuttings that residents produced during January and February and stored in their brown bins could then be collected.

Councillor S. Robinson subsequently asked in a supplementary question for all Councillors to be provided with the figures relating to the previous occasion when the garden waste collection service operating times had been extended. The Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and Community Safety undertook to provide this information after the meeting.

Question Submitted by Councillor J. Robinson

"Can the portfolio holder update the council what the plans are for Stourbridge Road Car Park?"

The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration informed Members that the land was sold subject to contract and conditional upon planning permission being granted. The planning applications were pending on the date of the meeting.

Councillor J. Robinson subsequently asked in a supplementary question how long the planning status was likely to remain pending.

The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration responded by advising that she was unable to comment on this matter for legal reasons.

Question Submitted by Councillor S. Evans

"In the last full council meeting the portfolio holder confirmed the council were looking into setting up a Bromsgrove BID. Can you confirm if any businesses have suggested they would be in support of this and what level of tax they would be expected to pay?"

In responding, the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration referred Members to the portfolio holder annual report that she had presented at the Full Council meeting held in January 2025.

Council 19th February 2025

This report was quoted, where a statement had been made that "A feasibility study for a proposed business improvement district for Bromsgrove Town Centre will be undertaken and work will take place with existing networks to establish a BID steering group. The feasibility stage will take approximately 3 months. If it is feasible to move forward, the process to set up the BID will take up to 18 months." The detail referred to in the question would form part of this process.

100\24 MOTIONS ON NOTICE

The Chairman highlighted that one Motion on Notice had been submitted for consideration at the Council meeting. However, in advance of the meeting, group leaders had agreed that the Motion should be referred for consideration at the following meeting of the Constitution Review Working Group scheduled to take place on 10th April 2025. On this basis, it had been agreed that the Motion would not be debated at the meeting.

101\24

TO CONSIDER ANY URGENT BUSINESS, DETAILS OF WHICH HAVE
BEEN NOTIFIED TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF LEGAL,
DEMOCRATIC AND PROCUREMENT SERVICES PRIOR TO THE
COMMENCEMENT OF THE MEETING AND WHICH THE CHAIRMAN,
BY REASON OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, CONSIDERS TO BE OF
SO URGENT A NATURE THAT IT CANNOT WAIT UNTIL THE NEXT
MEETING

There was no urgent business for consideration on this occasion.

The meeting closed at 8.24 p.m.

Chairman

Council 12 March 2025

Local Government Re-organisation – Interim Plan Proposals for Worcestershire – Bromsgrove

Relevant Portfolio Holder	Councillor Karen May, Leader and Cabinet Member for Strategic Partnerships and Governance			
Portfolio Holder Consulted	Yes			
Relevant Senior Officers	Sue Hanley, Chief Executive.			
	Claire Felton, Assistant Director for Legal,			
	Democratic and Procurement Services			
Report Authors	Job Title: Chief Executive			
	Contact email:			
Sue Hanley	s.hanley@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk			
Claire Felton	Job Title: Assistant Director of Legal, Democratic and Procurement Services Contact email: c.felton@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk			
Wards Affected	All Wards			
Ward Councillor(s)	N/A			
consulted				
Relevant Council Priority	All strategic priorities			
If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in advance of the meeting.				

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

Members are asked to

1.1 CONSIDER the matters set out in this report relating to the Government's intention to implement devolution and local government reorganisation; and

RESOLVE

1.2 which model of local government re-organisation be included in the Council's interim response to be sent to the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government setting out the Council's position on devolution. Members may select from the models of organisation listed below at Options 1 to 3.

OPTION 1: Unitary Authority for the whole of Worcestershire made up of the six district councils and Worcestershire County Council.

Council 2025

12 March

OPTION 2: Two Unitary Authorities made up of North Worcestershire (covering the footprint of Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest) and South Worcestershire (covering the footprint of Malvern Hills, Worcester City and Wychavon) together with associated County Council functions for each area.

OPTION 3: A response that continues to work up Option 1 and Option 2 to ensure that both can be fully examined prior to submission on 28th November 2025.

1.3 Authority be delegated to the Chief Executive and the Assistant Director of Legal Democratic and Procurement Services to make any final amendments to the Council's interim plan response following consultation with Group Leaders.

2. BACKGROUND

- 2.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the proposals for local government devolution and re-organisation as set out in the recent government White Paper titled English Devolution White Paper published on 16th December 2024 (referred to in this report as the "white paper") by the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government ("MHCLG"). A white paper is a statement of intent for future government legislation. It will be followed by an Act of Parliament. The exact timing of this new legislation is not known at this stage. The government has indicated that the new legislation will be titled the "English Devolution Act".
- 2.2 In the White Paper, the Government sets out its ambition to create new Strategic Authorities with an ultimate aim, in due course, for all areas to be covered by a Mayoral Strategic Authority. Alongside these changes increased levels of devolution would be introduced, in areas such as housing and planning, environment and climate change, business and research, skills and employment and transport.
- 2.3 In addition, and as a preparatory step towards the creation of Strategic Authorities for all areas, the Government is seeking local government reorganisation. This will apply to all remaining areas of two tier local government, i.e. areas where there are both County Councils and District Councils. Principal Councils in those areas have been formally invited by the Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution ("the Minister of State") to put forward proposals for the existing District and County Councils to be replaced by Unitary Councils.

Council 2025

12 March

- 2.4 The existing powers in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 ("the 2007 Act") do not enable the government to impose unitary structures, and it is for this reason the language used is one of "inviting" proposals. However, it would be open to the government to legislate in the English Devolution Act to re-create powers of direction or to implement re-organisation directly by setting out a new structure to replace county and district councils.
- 2.5 A more detailed chronology of events since December 2024 and key dates going forward is attached at Appendix 1. On 8th January 2025 Worcestershire County Council wrote to the MHCLG asking to defer the 2025 County Council elections. This request was rejected by the MHCLG. On 5th February 2025 the Minister wrote to all the Worcestershire authorities inviting the council leaders in the area to develop a proposal for single tier re-organisation (Appendix 2). The letter included a formal invitation for proposals under section 2 of the 2007 Act and guidance for the development of those proposals. A copy of the guidance is attached at Appendix 3. Senior officers have since been provided with more information on proposed timescales for the implementation of local government re-organisation by officials from the MHCLG.
- 2.6 The next key date in the re-organisation process is 21st March 2025 by which time the Council is required to submit its Interim Plan for re-organisation to the MHCLG. That document must set out the Council's preferred model or models of re-organisation, together with supporting information as set out at paragraph 3.12 of this report.
- 2.7 As set out in the main body of this report there is a strong emphasis under the White Paper on encouraging neighbouring authorities to collaborate and bring forward joint proposals. This is clearly indicated in the Ministerial Guidance at Appendix 3 which states: "the expectation is that one interim plan is jointly submitted by all councils in the area".
- 2.8 Discussions have been taking place between the Worcestershire Council Leaders supported by the Chief Executives from all 7 Worcestershire Councils through the Worcestershire Leaders Board. The focus has been to prepare a draft interim plan setting out proposals for a unitary model or models covering the County as a whole. The draft interim plan would then be subject to agreement by each of the Councils in Worcestershire.

Council 2025

12 March

2.9 At the time of publishing this report (4th March) discussions between County leaders are on-going and circulation of the draft interim plan will be delayed pending a further meeting of the Leaders Board on 6th March. This report therefore gives Members as much information as is currently available regarding the move to unitary status and options for future models. An addendum to this report will be issued as early as possible before Council meets setting out the conclusions reached following the discussions taking place through the Leaders Board together with a further appendix (Appendix 5).

3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES

<u>Devolution</u>

- 3.1 The principle of devolution is nothing new in terms of central government devolving power, funding and responsibilities held in Whitehall departments or central government bodies, down to local areas. To date devolution has been principally facilitated through the creation of new Combined Authorities as an additional tier of government under the democratic accountability of an Elected Mayor. These arrangements have been well established primarily in City Regions such as the Greater London Authority, Greater Manchester Combined Authority and West Midlands Combined Authority.
- 3.2 The previous Government sought to further progress devolution through the principle of County Deals, which aimed to provide a vehicle for devolution to be taken up in areas across England without a devolution deal. The County Deal approach was formulated in the February 2022 White Paper which committed to establishing a new model of Combined Authority that would enable devolution deals to be agreed by County Councils and/or Unitary Councils. Within the White Paper the Government announced nine areas which were to be negotiated first.
- 3.3 Following the election of a new Government, in July 2024 the Deputy Prime Minister and Secretary of State for Local Government wrote to all Local Government Leaders setting out the new Government's ambition to widen and deepen devolution across England.

The English Devolution White Paper

3.5 On 16 December 2024 the Government published the English Devolution White Paper setting out a programme of devolution and Local Government reorganisation across England. The vision outlined by the Government is for all parts of England to be part of regional Strategic Authorities that have a regional Mayor. These Strategic Authorities will

Council 2025

12 March

work in a similar way to existing Mayoral Combined Authorities. Strategic Authorities will have responsibility for driving growth and shaping public services across wider regional geographies.

- 3.6 There are three levels of Strategic Authorities proposed:
 - Foundation Strategic Authorities: these include non-mayoral Combined Authorities and Combined County Authorities automatically. In exceptional circumstances, the Secretary of State will have the power to designate an individual Local Authority as a Foundation Strategic Authority.
 - Mayoral Strategic Authorities: the Greater London Authority, all Mayoral Combined Authorities and all Mayoral Combined County Authorities will automatically begin as Mayoral Strategic Authorities.
 - Established Mayoral Strategic Authorities: Those existing Combined Mayoral Authorities that meet specified eligibility criteria may be designated as Established Mayoral Strategic Authorities. This unlocks further devolution, most notably an Integrated Settlement
- 3.7 Under the new devolution framework, the government's preference is for partnerships that bring together more than one Local Authority over a wider geography. All combined authorities will be referred to as Strategic Authorities with the aim that all areas will have Mayoral Strategic Authorities.
- 3.8 Strategic Authorities will have defined areas of competence. These areas are:
 - Transport and local infrastructure.
 - Skills and employment support.
 - Housing and strategic planning.
 - Economic development and regeneration.
 - Environment and climate change.
 - Health, wellbeing and public service reform.
 - Public safety.

Local Government Re-organisation

3.9 As a preparatory step to establishing Strategic Authorities, the Government is pushing forward a programme of local government reorganisation under which all remaining areas with two tier Councils will

Council 2025

12 March

be expected to move to a unitary model. This will affect the remaining "shire" counties covering 21 two-tier areas.

3.10 As referred to in paragraph 2.4, Worcestershire County Council was not successful in requesting a delay to its elections. Accordingly, it is one of the 15 County areas which has been given until November 2025 by the government to present its proposals for re-organisation. Members are referred to the timetable at Appendix 1. For the immediate future the most important upcoming dates are as follows: -

21st March 2025 – Deadline for Interim Plan to be sent to the MHCLG

28th November 2025 - Deadline for final proposals for reorganisation to be sent to MHCLG

- 3.11 As set out in paragraph 2.7, the expectation is that one interim plan will be jointly submitted by all the councils in the area. This is made very clear as can be seen from the following quotes.
- 3.11.1 The White Paper states "All levels of local government have a part to play in bringing improved structures to their area through reorganisation, including by sharing information and working proactively to enable robust and sustainable options to be developed and considered. We expect all Councils in an area to work together to develop unitary proposals that are in the best interests of all councils in an area to work with us to bring about these changes as swiftly as possible".
- 3.11.2 The Minister's letter of 5th February states "We therefore expect local leaders to work collaboratively and proactively, including by sharing information to develop robust and sustainable unitary proposals that are in the best interests of the whole area to which this invitation is issued, rather than developing competing proposals. This will mean making every effort to work together to develop and jointly submit one proposal for unitary local government across the whole of your area."
- 3.12 The government acknowledges that at this stage plans may still be in the early phases of taking shape. As set out in Appendix 3, the interim plan should address the following issues: -
 - Any barriers or challenges where government support is needed
 - Options for a unitary structure
 - Costs of a unitary structure
 - Councillor numbers and electoral arrangements
 - Views on how new structures would support devolution

Council 12 March 2025

Plans for local engagement

- Preparatory costs
- Plans for joint working with other authorities in the area

Options for unitary structures

- 3.13 As already noted, the Minister's letter at Appendix 2 includes a statutory invitation under section 2 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 for proposals to be submitted by principal councils in the county of Worcestershire for a single tier of local government. A proposal could include: -
 - A single unitary council for the whole of Worcestershire.
 - Two or more unitary councils for Worcestershire.
 - A single tier proposal involving areas neighbouring Worcestershire.
- 3.14 In relation to the third option above (also known as a Type C proposal) the 2007 Act states that such a proposal can be made with a "relevant adjoining area". This is defined as an area that "must adjoin the county concerned and is currently a county in England, a district in England or two or more such counties or districts".
- 3.15 Based on this definition, then technically a unitary model for Worcestershire could be considered to include any of the following county areas; Herefordshire, Shropshire, Warwickshire, Gloucestershire and Staffordshire. Officers are of the view that the 2007 Act would preclude a cross boundary arrangement with a metropolitan unitary authority. However, this is not entirely clear from wording in the White Paper which refers to re-organisation being available for: -
 - "those unitary councils where there is evidence of failure or where their size or boundaries may be hindering their ability to deliver sustainable and high-quality services for their residents".
- 3.16 The above points have been considered by the Worcestershire Leaders Board and whilst there is a third option of a Type C proposal, albeit that the exact details are unclear, the view of the Leaders is not to pursue a cross boundary option. This therefore leaves the two remaining options of a single unitary authority for the whole of Worcestershire model or two or more unitary authorities for Worcestershire.
- 3.17 The guidance from the secretary of state at Appendix 3 sets out a suite of considerations which authorities should take into account when formulating proposals. Of particular note is the guidance in section 2 which states that new councils should aim for a population figure of

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Council 2025

12 March

500,000 or more. The guidance further states that "there may be certain scenarios in which this 500,000 figure does not make sense for an area, including on devolution, and this rationale should be set out in a proposal".

Timetable for implementation of new arrangements

- 3.18 The additional information provided by officials at MHCLG has set out that the proposed commencement date for any new unitary structure or structures in Worcestershire would be April 2028. Following submission of final proposals in November 2025, there would be a period of consultation from January to April 2026. Between May and August 2026 a government decision would be made and the enabling legislation laid before Parliament. Elections to the new style authority(ies) would take place in May 2027 which is referred to as "Shadow Authority(ies)". In April 2028 the Shadow Authority(ies) would take over as the unitary authority(ies) for Worcestershire.
- 3.19 Based on the examples of previous two tier districts which have changed to a unitary structure there are different options as to the transition arrangements and the timing of elections for the new authority(ies) and the cessation of the original councils. In some examples the County Council has continued to operate as the Shadow Council for a further twelve months up to the implementation date with an increased number of members to reflect the eventual make up of the new unitary structure. Another model is for the County Council to be abolished and for the Shadow Council to be made up of all the County and District Councillors in the area with elections to the new unitary structure taking place after the abolition of the County Council and the District Councils. There are financial implications arising from the procedure for the Shadow Authority in terms of the levels of member allowance payable and this is set out in more detail in the Interim Plan.

Implications for Worcestershire

- 3.20 Leaving aside a cross border type C proposal, there are essentially two alternative options for Worcestershire as follows: -
 - Option 1: A unitary council for the whole county with an estimated population of 614,000; or
 - Option 2: Two unitary councils, one made up of the three southern districts of Malvern Hills, Worcester City and Wychavon (population 323,000) and the other made up of the three northern districts Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest (population 291,000).

Council 12 March

- 3.21 As noted in paragraph 3.17 the government has identified that exceptions to the guidance on population of 500,000 may arise in certain scenarios. If this option were to be adopted for the final proposals it will be necessary to set out a well argued rationale to justify the lower population numbers.
- 3.22 As referred to in paragraph 2.9, officers are waiting to be updated regarding the draft interim plan following the latest round of discussions through the Leaders Board. It is clear that there is unlikely to be unanimity of views across the 7 councils. Realistically, and given the time constraints imposed by government, it is not going to be possible for the interim plan to commit to one particular outcome. The alternative would be to have a twin track approach with a plan that identifies the options under consideration and provides details of both of those options together with indicative preparation costs.
- 3.23 Whilst the population numbers for a two unitary model would be below the threshold of 500,000, there are strong arguments that a proposal of two unitary councils would build on the existing and very well established models of partnership working in both the North and South of the County.
- 3.24 This is not an exhaustive list but examples of current shared working arrangements include: -
 - Shared Services in operation between Bromsgrove and Redditch Council since 2012 resulting in services currently being delivered jointly across both council areas by one team of staff.
 - Shared Services for North Worcester Water Management and Building Control operated jointly by Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest Councils
 - Shared Services (for some but not all service areas) of Wychavon Council and Malvern Hills District Council since 2014.
 - Shared Revenues and Benefits Service for the Southern Districts.

Achieving devolution in Worcestershire

3.26 Whilst the seven councils in Worcestershire have control over shaping proposals for a new unitary governance structure, the inclusion in those plans of any devolution will be dependent on the outcome of discussions with neighbouring authorities. There is a range of options for the footprint of a strategic authority. The government suggests a minimum population of 1.5 million and states that strategic authorities should cover sensible economic geographies with a particular focus on functional economic areas.

Council 2025

12 March

3.27 Worcestershire's neighbouring areas are listed at paragraph 3.15 and various combinations would be possible to make up a population of 1.5 million. Members are referred to the Council area populations at Appendix 4. A further factor to note is the government's desire as set out in the White Paper to achieve public sector boundary alignment for strategic authorities. If two unitary councils were established, it would be possible for them to be in different strategic authorities.

Challenges and Risks

- 3.28 The changes needed to be implemented to move to a unitary structure in Worcestershire and to be able to access greater devolution through belonging to a strategic authority are challenging and far reaching. The White Paper sets out what would be the most significant programme of local government re-organisation for two tier authorities in decades. There are a number of unknowns and challenges that have been identified in the preparation of this report as follows: -
- 3.28.1 The ability of the 7 councils in Worcestershire to work collaboratively to agree a high level plan for the way forward and to expand that plan into detailed final proposals that meet the government's criteria. Achieving consensus across the whole County will be difficult where there are different opinions and different approaches in the mix. Whilst it would be possible for more than one final proposal to be presented to MHCLG working on different scenarios would create duplication of effort and potentially stretch the available resources.
- 3.28.2 There is limited time to proceed with the next stage of formulating final proposals as that work has to be completed by November 2025. There may be practical issues around making plans such as the ability to gather data in a timely way and the need for authorities to co-operate in sharing data.
- 3.28.3 It is not known at this stage what the contents of the English Devolution Bill will be and whether a mechanism for compelling the creation of unitary authorities will be introduced for any councils who are unable to formulate acceptable plans in the current timescales.
- 3.28.4 A further unknown is the government position on achieving coterminous boundaries between new local government structures and the existing boundaries of other public authorities such as the police, the fire service and health authorities. The White Paper implies that the government would wish to see an alignment of the geographical boundaries of public authorities but there is little detail on this element.

12 March

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Council 2025

- 3.28.5 There is a government expectation of public engagement taking place to inform the new unitary structures but there is limited time available to achieve this.
- 3.28.6 Plans to access additional devolution benefits would be contingent on the new unitary structure or structures forming part of a larger regional footprint as a member of a combined authority. Given the very short timetable for submitting final proposals, it will be a challenge at the same time to twin track this with discussions with authorities outside Worcestershire regarding formation of a combined authority. If such plans cannot be formulated, then accessing devolution benefits will be delayed.
- 3.28.7 In light of the scale of change that will be needed to move to a unitary system, it is inevitable that this is going to give rise to uncertainty. This could be stressful for staff employed by the Council. Equally it could place strain on working relationships with other partners and colleagues from other authorities where services are delivered jointly or under shared services arrangements. These issues will have to be managed carefully as good working relationships will be essential to implementing the final proposals once they are known.
- 3.28.8 There is a risk that the focus needed by staff to formulate and implement the alternative unitary structure may detract from the ongoing delivery of day to day services for local residents. The impending changes may also make contract renewal and procurement more difficult and slow down or impede progress on projects that are currently being worked on.
- 3.28.9 There may be wider economic implications for Worcestershire as a whole while businesses/investors wait to see what changes will be introduced.

Next Steps

- 3.29 Following submission of the Council's interim response, further detailed analysis of the merits of either a County wide model or a two unitary model will have to be explored. This will have to address the financial feasibility of both options together with a wide range of other issues including electoral arrangements, future funding implications and service delivery of both district and county functions. The government will be expecting final submissions to be well researched and supported by evidence based on the criteria set out in the guidance (Appendix 3).
- 3.30 Accordingly, there may be the requirement for the Council to commission additional expertise to undertake more detailed work.

Council 12 March 2025

3.31 Whilst at this stage it is hoped that the collaborative working through the Leaders Board will result in the submission of a single draft interim plan, as individual councils proceed to explore their preferred model it is inevitable that contra views on the way forward are likely to arise. This highlights the need for the resources to be available to fully explore the merits of both models.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

- 4.1 The setting up of any new Local Government structure will have associated costs relating to:
 - The initial evaluation of options.
 - The establishment of the agreed final Option and associated shadow arrangements.
 - Redundancy costs.
 - Costs of moving to single systems and processes from multiple Councils in any final solution.
- 4.2 The Government is not offering any funding for this process and so it is expected that the costs of moving to any new structure will be funded from the existing Councils and/or operational savings going forward. For either option proposed, it would be expected that there would be ongoing operational savings however the magnitude of those savings and final costs will depend on which option is taken forward.
- 4.3 There is significant work involved in undertaking these financial evaluations and the outcomes will then need including with operational and other delivery requirements of the different options being evaluated to come to a final solution. The Council is scoping out and commissioning the initial remit for this.
- 4.4 It should be remembered that services being delivered by all Councils up to vesting day must continue.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 As set out in the main body of the report, the existing legislation which enables local government reorganisations to be implemented is the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. This is the legislation which has been used previously to create county unitary authorities. It is not clear whether the government intends to add to these

Council 2025

12 March

existing powers regarding reorganisation when it brings forward legislation for reorganisation and devolution. New legislation will be needed to implement other parts of the White Paper including the creation of Strategic Authorities and other aspects of devolution.

- 5.2 In this regard, the government has stated that it is committed to bringing forward "the English Devolution Bill "in the first session (of Parliament) subject to parliamentary time". No further details of this bill are available at this time.
- 5.3 Whilst government has requested that an Interim Plan be submitted to MCHLG by 21st March, it should be noted that the response is not binding upon the Council. Further work will have to be carried out to formulate more detailed proposals and these will be presented to Members nearer the final submission deadline of 28th November 2025. Neighbouring authorities are strongly encouraged to work together to present joint plans but it is not a legal requirement that the same final plan be submitted by all Councils.
- 5.4 As set out in paragraphs 3.13 to 3.16, whilst a third option for reorganisation by combining with other authorities adjoining Worcestershire's boundaries is possible under the 2007 Act, there is uncertainty as to how this would operate in practice given comments in the White Paper.
- 5.5 The Secretary of State has passed a series of generic regulations applicable to all re-organisations, under section 14 of the 2007 Act. These cover the common practical issues that arise when implementing a re-organisation including finance requirements, the transfer of assets and employees and other transitional arrangements and can be listed as follows: -
 - The Local Government (Structural Changes) (Transitional Arrangements) (No.2) Regulations 2008/2867 (Transition Regulations).
 - Local Government (Structural Changes) (Transfer of Functions, Property, Rights and Liabilities) Regulations 2008/2176 (2008 Regulations).
 - Local Government (Structural and Boundary Changes) (Staffing) Regulations 2008 (Employment Regulations).
 - Local Government (Structural Changes) (Finance) Regulations 2008/3022 (Finance Regulations)

Council 12 March 2025

- 5.6 When a proposal for a new unitary council has been agreed, the Secretary of State will issue specific regulations and orders under section 7 of the 2007 Act to create local arrangements to ensure a smooth implementation. These local regulations will cover a number of matters including: -
 - Effective dates
 - Establishment of a shadow authority and its membership
 - Governance arrangements for shadow authority
 - Duty to produce an implementation plan
 - Duty of all councils to co-operate
 - Arrangements for first elections
 - Treatment of any specific assets or liabilities

6. OTHER - IMPLICATIONS

Relevant Council Priority

6.1 Any change to a new Unitary authority to either option will have a potential impact on the future of the current Bromsgrove District Council priorities.

Climate Change Implications

6.2 There are no specific climate change implications.

Equalities and Diversity Implications

6.3 There are no specific equalities and diversity implications.

7. RISK MANAGEMENT

7.1 See previous section on "Challenges and Risks" at paragraph 3.28.

8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appendices

Appendix 1 Chronology and Key Dates

Appendix 2 Letter from Jim McMahon MP to the Leaders of two-tier councils in Worcestershire – dated 5th February 2025 including Annex A - Invitation for Proposals for a Single Tier of Local Government.

Council 2025

12 March

Appendix 3 Guidance from the Secretary of State for proposals for unitary local government

Appendix 4 – Table of population figures

Appendix 5 - (to follow)

Background Papers

English Devolution White Paper English Devolution White Paper - GOV.UK

Letter to all two-tier councils from Jim McMahon MP dated 16th December 2024

9. REPORT SIGN OFF

Department	Name and Job Title	Date
Portfolio Holder	Councillor Karen May, Leader and Cabinet Member for Strategic Partnerships and Governance	4 th March 2025
Lead Director / Assistant Director	Claire Felton, Assistant Director of Legal, Democratic and Procurement Services	4 th March 2025
Financial Services	Pete Carpenter, Section 151 Officer	4 th March 2025
Legal Services	Claire Felton, Assistant Director of Legal, Democratic and Procurement Services	4 th March 2025



APPENDIX 1

Key dates for Local Government Re-organisation Process

16th December 2024	White Paper titled English Devolution White Paper issued BY Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government	
8 th January 2025	Letter sent by Worcestershire County Council to Minister of State requesting postponement of 2025 elections	
5 th February 2025	Letter from Minister of State to the Leaders of two-tier councils in Worcestershire including Annex A - Invitation for Proposals for a Single Tier of Local Government and Guidance for proposals	
12 th March 2025	Extra Ordinary Council meeting to consider Interim Response	
21st March 2025	Deadline for Interim response to be sent to the MHCLG	
1 st May 2025	Worcestershire County Council elections going ahead	
28 th November 2025	Deadline for final proposals for re-organisation to be sent to MHCLG	
January to April 2026	Government consultation on proposals submitted	
May 2026	Local elections scheduled to take place in Redditch and Worcester City Council	
May to August 2026	Government decision on proposal	
	Re-organisation legislation prepared and laid before Parliament	
May 2027	District Council Elections due to take place	
May 2027	Elections to new shadow unitary authority or authorities	
May to December 2027	Any transitional legislation prepared and laid before Parliament	
01 April 2028	Go live date for new unitary authority (authorities)	



OFFICIAL



To: Leaders of two-tier councils in Worcestershire

Bromsgrove District Council
Malvern Hills District Council
Redditch Borough Council
Worcester City Council
Worcestershire County Council
Wychavon District Council
Wyre Forest District Council

Jim McMahon OBE MP

Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution 2 Marsham Street London SW1P 4DF

Your reference:

5 February 2025

Dear Leaders

This Government has been clear on our vision for simpler, more sustainable, local government structures, alongside a transfer of power out of Westminster through devolution. We know that councils of all political stripes are in crisis after a decade of decline and instability. Indeed, a record number of councils asked the government for support this year to help them set their budgets.

This new government will not waste this opportunity to build empowered, simplified, resilient and sustainable local government for your area that will increase value for money for council taxpayers. Local leaders are central to our mission to deliver change for hard-working people in every corner of the country through our Plan for Change, and our councils are doing everything they can to stay afloat and provide for their communities day in, day out. The Government will work closely with you to deliver these aims to the most ambitious timeline.

I am writing to you now to formally invite you to work with other council leaders in your area to develop a proposal for local government reorganisation, and to set out further detail on the criteria, guidance for the development of proposals, and the timeline for this process. A formal invitation with guidance for the development of your proposals is attached at Annex A. This invitation sets out the criteria against which proposals will be assessed.

Developing proposals for reorganisation

We expect there to be different views on the best structures for an area, and indeed there may be merits to a variety of approaches. Nevertheless, it is not in council taxpayers' interest to devote public funds and your valuable time and effort into the development of multiple proposals which unnecessarily fragment services, compete against one another, require lengthy implementation periods or which do not sufficiently address local interests and identities.

The public will rightly expect us to deliver on our shared responsibility to design and implement the best local government structures for efficient and high-quality public service delivery. We therefore expect local leaders to work collaboratively and proactively, including by sharing information, to develop robust and sustainable unitary proposals that are in the best interests of the whole area to which this invitation is issued, rather than developing competing proposals.

This will mean making every effort to work together to develop and jointly submit one proposal for unitary local government across the whole of your area. The proposal that is developed for the whole of your area may be for one or more new unitary councils and should be complementary to devolution plans. It is open to you to explore options with neighbouring councils in addition to those included in this invitation, particularly where this helps those councils to address concerns about their sustainability or limitations arising from their size or boundaries or where you are working together across a wider geography within a strategic authority.

I understand there will be some cases when it is not possible for all councils in an area to jointly develop and submit a proposal, despite their best efforts. This will not be a barrier to progress, and the Government will consider any suitable proposals submitted by the relevant local authorities.

Supporting places through change

It is essential that councils continue to deliver their business-as-usual services and duties, which remain unchanged until reorganisation is complete. This includes progress towards the Government's ambition of universal coverage of up-to-date local plans as quickly as possible. To support with capacity, I intend to provide some funds for preparing to take forward any proposal, and I will share further information later in the process.

Considering the efficiencies that are possible through reorganisation, we expect that areas will be able to meet transition costs over time from existing budgets, including from the flexible use of capital receipts that can support authorities in taking forward transformation and invest-to-save projects.

The default position is that assets and liabilities remain locally managed by councils, but we acknowledge that there are exceptional circumstances where there has been failure linked to capital practices. Where that is the case, proposals should reflect the extent to which the implications of this can be managed locally, including as part of efficiencies possible through reorganisation, and Commissioners should be engaged in these discussions. We will continue to discuss the approach that is proposed with the area.

I welcome the partnership approach that is being taken across the sector to respond to the ambitious plans set out in the White Paper. My department will continue to work closely with the Local Government Association (LGA), the District Councils Network, the County Councils Network and other local government partners to plan how best to support councils through this process. We envisage that practical support will be needed to understand and address the key thematic issues that will arise through reorganisation, including managing service impacts and opportunities for the workforce, digital and IT systems, and leadership support.

OFFICIAL

Timelines and next steps for interim plans and full proposals

We ask for an interim plan to be submitted on or before 21 March 2025, in line with the guidance set out in the attached Annex. My officials will provide feedback on your plan to help support you to develop final proposals.

I will expect any full proposal to be submitted by 28 November. If I decide to implement any proposal, and the necessary legislation is agreed by Parliament, we will work with you to move to elections to new 'shadow' unitary councils as soon as possible as is the usual arrangement in the process of local government reorganisation.

Following submission, I will consider any and all proposals carefully before taking decisions on how to proceed. My officials are available throughout to discuss how your reorganisation and devolution aspirations might work together and what support you think you might need to proceed.

This is a once in a generation opportunity to work together to put local government in your area on a more sustainable footing, creating simpler structures for your area that will deliver the services that local people and businesses need and deserve. As set out in the White Paper, my commitment is that clear leadership locally will be met with an active partner nationally.

I am copying this letter to council Chief Executives. I am also copying this letter to local Members of Parliament and to the Police and Crime Commissioner.

Yours sincerely,

JIM MCMAHON OBE MP

Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution

Annex A

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN HEALTH ACT 2007 INVITATION FOR PROPOSALS FOR A SINGLE TIER OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, in exercise of his powers under Part 1 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 ('the 2007 Act'), hereby invites any principal authority in the area of the county of Worcestershire, to submit a proposal for a single tier of local government.

This may be one of the following types of proposal as set out in the 2007 Act:

- Type A a single tier of local authority covering the whole of the county concerned
- Type B a single tier of local authority covering an area that is currently a district, or two
 or more districts
- Type C a single tier of local authority covering the whole of the county concerned, or one or more districts in the county; and one or more relevant adjoining areas
- Combined proposal a proposal that consists of two or more Type B proposals, two or more Type C proposals, or one or more Type B proposals and one or more Type C proposals.

Proposals must be submitted in accordance with paragraphs 1 to 3:

- 1. Any proposal must be made by 28 November 2025.
- 2. In responding to this invitation an authority must have regard to the guidance from the Secretary of State set out in the Schedule to this invitation, and to any further guidance on responding to this invitation received from the Secretary of State.
- 3. An authority responding to this invitation may either make its own proposal or make a proposal jointly with any of the other authorities invited to respond.

Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government.

F KIRWAN

A senior civil servant in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 5 February 2025

SCHEDULE

Guidance from the Secretary of State for proposals for unitary local government.

Criteria for unitary local government

- 1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the whole of the area concerned the establishment of a single tier of local government.
 - a) Proposals should be for sensible economic areas, with an appropriate tax base which does not create an undue advantage or disadvantage for one part of the area.
 - b) Proposals should be for a sensible geography which will help to increase housing supply and meet local needs.
 - c) Proposals should be supported by robust evidence and analysis and include an explanation of the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of estimated costs/benefits and local engagement.
 - d) Proposals should describe clearly the single tier local government structures it is putting forward for the whole of the area, and explain how, if implemented, these are expected to achieve the outcomes described.
- 2. Unitary local government must be the right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity and withstand financial shocks.
 - a) As a guiding principle, new councils should aim for a population of 500,000 or more.
 - b) There may be certain scenarios in which this 500,000 figure does not make sense for an area, including on devolution, and this rationale should be set out in a proposal.
 - c) Efficiencies should be identified to help improve councils' finances and make sure that council taxpayers are getting the best possible value for their money.
 - d) Proposals should set out how an area will seek to manage transition costs, including planning for future service transformation opportunities from existing budgets, including from the flexible use of capital receipts that can support authorities in taking forward transformation and invest-to-save projects.
 - e) For areas covering councils that are in Best Value intervention and/or in receipt of Exceptional Financial Support, proposals must additionally demonstrate how reorganisation may contribute to putting local government in the area as a whole on a firmer footing and what area-specific arrangements may be necessary to make new structures viable.
 - f) In general, as with previous restructures, there is no proposal for council debt to be addressed centrally or written off as part of reorganisation. For areas where there are exceptional circumstances where there has been failure linked to capital practices, proposals should reflect the extent to which the implications of this can be managed locally, including as part of efficiencies possible through reorganisation.

3. Unitary structures must prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable public services to citizens.

- a) Proposals should show how new structures will improve local government and service delivery, and should avoid unnecessary fragmentation of services.
- b) Opportunities to deliver public service reform should be identified, including where they will lead to better value for money.
- c) Consideration should be given to the impacts for crucial services such as social care, children's services, SEND and homelessness, and for wider public services including for public safety.

Proposals should show how councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to a view that meets local needs and is informed by local views.

- a) It is for councils to decide how best to engage locally in a meaningful and constructive way and this engagement activity should be evidenced in your proposal.
- b) Proposals should consider issues of local identity and cultural and historic importance.
- c) Proposals should include evidence of local engagement, an explanation of the views that have been put forward and how concerns will be addressed.

5. New unitary structures must support devolution arrangements.

- a) Proposals will need to consider and set out for areas where there is already a Combined Authority (CA) or a Combined County Authority (CCA) established or a decision has been taken by Government to work with the area to establish one, how that institution and its governance arrangements will need to change to continue to function effectively; and set out clearly (where applicable) whether this proposal is supported by the CA/CCA /Mayor.
- b) Where no CA or CCA is already established or agreed then the proposal should set out how it will help unlock devolution.
- c) Proposals should ensure there are sensible population size ratios between local authorities and any strategic authority, with timelines that work for both priorities.

6. New unitary structures should enable stronger community engagement and deliver genuine opportunity for neighbourhood empowerment.

- a) Proposals will need to explain plans to make sure that communities are engaged.
- b) Where there are already arrangements in place it should be explained how these will enable strong community engagement.

Developing proposals for unitary local government

The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a proposal:

Boundary Changes

- a) Existing district areas should be considered the building blocks for your proposals, but where there is a strong justification more complex boundary changes will be considered.
- b) There will need to be a strong public services and financial sustainability related justification for any proposals that involve boundary changes, or that affect wider public services, such as fire and rescue authorities, due to the likely additional costs and complexities of implementation.

Engagement and consultation on reorganisation

- a) We expect local leaders to work collaboratively and proactively, including by sharing information, to develop robust and sustainable unitary proposals that are in the best interests of the whole area to which this invitation is issued, rather than developing competing proposals.
- b) For those areas where Commissioners have been appointed by the Secretary of State as part of the Best Value Intervention, their input will be important in the development of robust unitary proposals.
- c) We also expect local leaders to engage their Members of Parliament, and to ensure there is wide engagement with local partners and stakeholders, residents, workforce and their representatives, and businesses on a proposal.
- d) The engagement that is undertaken should both inform the development of robust proposals and should also build a shared understanding of the improvements you expect to deliver through reorganisation.
- e) The views of other public sector providers will be crucial to understanding the best way to structure local government in your area. This will include the relevant Mayor (if you already have one), Integrated Care Board, Police (Fire) and Crime Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Authority, local Higher Education and Further Education providers, National Park Authorities, and the voluntary and third sector.
- f) Once a proposal has been submitted it will be for the Government to decide on taking a proposal forward and to consult as required by statute. This will be a completely separate process to any consultation undertaken on mayoral devolution in an area, which will be undertaken in some areas early this year, in parallel with this invitation.

Interim plans

An interim plan should be provided to Government on or before **21 March 2025.** This should set out your progress on developing proposals in line with the criteria and guidance. The level of detail that is possible at this stage may vary from place to place but the expectation is that one interim plan is jointly submitted by all councils in the area. It may be the case that the interim plan describes more than one potential proposal for your area, if there is more than one option under consideration. The interim plan should:

- a) identify any barriers or challenges where further clarity or support would be helpful.
- b) identify the likely options for the size and boundaries of new councils that will offer the best structures for delivery of high-quality and sustainable public services across the area, along with indicative efficiency saving opportunities.
- c) include indicative costs and arrangements in relation to any options including planning for future service transformation opportunities.
- d) include early views as to the councillor numbers that will ensure both effective democratic representation for all parts of the area, and also effective governance and decision-making arrangements which will balance the unique needs of your cities, towns, rural and coastal areas, in line with the Local Government Boundary Commission for England guidance.
- e) include early views on how new structures will support devolution ambitions.
- f) include a summary of local engagement that has been undertaken and any views expressed, along with your further plans for wide local engagement to help shape your developing proposals.
- g) set out indicative costs of preparing proposals and standing up an implementation team as well as any arrangements proposed to coordinate potential capacity funding across the area
- h) set out any voluntary arrangements that have been agreed to keep all councils involved in discussions as this work moves forward and to help balance the decisions needed now to maintain service delivery and ensure value for money for council taxpayers, with those key decisions that will affect the future success of any new councils in the area.

Council Area Populations

Area	Population (2023 mid-year estimate)
Worcestershire	0.614m
Herefordshire	0.190m
Shropshire (including Telford and Wrekin)	0.515m
West Mercia (total of the above)	1.319m
Warwickshire	0.618m
Gloucestershire	0.659m
North Worcestershire (Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest)	0.291m
South Worcestershire (Malvern Hills, Worcester and Wychavon).	0.323m

Source: Officer for National Statistics

